1995

# M&E Construction v. Took Mechanical : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure confers jurisdiction with the above-entitled Court.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

#### Issue #1:

Did the lower court err in allowing judgment for Appellee in the absence of any "written" notice of Appellant's alleged breach of the applicable subcontract?

#### Issue #2:

Did the lower court err in finding that Appellant was not entitled to any offset for work performed per the applicable subcontract or under the theory of unjust enrichment?

#### Issue #3:

Did the lower court err in awarding Appellee its attorney fees incurred in the proceedings below?

All three of the aforementioned issues were addressed in the proceedings below. See Record at 352-3, 829, & 970.

## CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ETC.,

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involved a contract dispute between a general contractor, the Appellee, and the subcontractor, the Appellant.

The contract involved remodelling jobs to be performed at both the Milton Bennion Hall site at the University of Utah and at the Frank E. Moss Federal Courthouse Building.

Appellee filed a complaint as Plaintiff in the lower court alleging a breach of the aforementioned contract. See Record 1-3. Appellant as Defendant in the lower court answered and filed its counterclaim, alleging not only a breach of contract but also claims under the theories of quantum meruit, promissory estoppel, and attorney fees. See Record 8-16.

The lower court ruled in favor of Appellee, finding that Appellant had breached the contract, finding that Appellant was awarded "no cause of action" under any theory for an offset, and finding that Plaintiff was entitled to attorney fees. See Record 1032-45.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

1. The Appellee and Appellant entered into a binding written subcontract agreement for certain remodelling jobs to be performed at both the Milton Bennion Hall site at the University of Utah and at the Frank E. Moss Federal Courthouse Building.

2. Although in dispute as to the amount, it is undisputed that Appellant performed certain work pursuant to the aforementioned subcontract.

3. The terms of the aforementioned subcontract required that Appellee provide written notice of any alleged breach of the contract. No such notice was provided. See Record 829 & 970-1.

4. Appellee was awarded judgment against Appellant, Appellant received no offset for any work performed, and Appellee was awarded attorney fees even though the court did not take evidence at trial and Appellant's counsel objected to the award of said attorney fees. See Record 1032-45, 952, & 351-53.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

In the lower court Appellee sued Appellant for a breach of a subcontract. However, that very subcontract required that Appellee first provide written notice before Appellee would be entitled to hire someone else to either correct or complete those duties required of Appellant. It is undisputed, there was no such notice provided.

Further, there was ample evidence to show that Appellant did in fact provide services for which it was not compensated. It is appropriate for Appellant to be, or to have been, awarded relief under alternate theories of breach of contract, quantum meruit, and/or promissory estoppel.

Finally, the only evidence as to attorney fees is in the form of an affidavit provided by Appellee's counsel. There has been no other evidence submitted for the record. The aforementioned affidavit was objected to, and yet such objection was completely ignored.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. THE APPLICABLE SUBCONTRACT REQUIRED THAT APPELLEE PROVIDE WRITTEN NOTICE OF ANY ALLEGED BREACH BY APPELLANT**

The parties entered into a valid subcontract, a copy of which is included in the addendum and which was received by the lower court as Plaintiff's Exhibit #10. See Record 580. Said subcontract specifically states in relevant part in Article III as follows:

Article III: Time is the essence of this contract, and Subcontractor recognizes and acknowledges that the Contractor and the Owner will sustain monetary damages if the whole or any part of the job be delayed through the failure of the Subcontractor to perform the work required in accordance with the Principal Contract, Plans and Specifications. In case of such failure by the Subcontractor, the Contractor may, at his option, **upon three (3) days written notice to the Subcontractor**, take any steps the Contractor deems advisable to see that such job is promptly completed, including the right to secure necessary substitute labor, material, appliances . . . (Emphasis added)

Pursuant to the subcontract Appellant was to complete certain work pursuant to certain plans and specifications provided by Plaintiff, a copy of which is included in the addendum and which was received by the lower court as Defendant's Exhibit #2. See Record 217. The court found that the Appellant failed to install 8" duct work into new 8" diffusers as provided under the plans and specifications, but instead left 7" duct work in place. See Record 1040-1.

Once the mistake was realized the owner insisted that the 7" ducts be removed. Instead of removing the 7" duct work, however, the Appellee was able to negotiate with the owner to allow the 7"



duct work to remain in place and to perform certain other work at no charge to the owner. See Record 1041.

Appellee then entered into an agreement with a different subcontractor to perform the additional work. The Appellee's subcontractor performed the work at no charge to Appellee; however, the subcontractor owed the Appellee a debt and discharged the debt by doing this work for the Appellee at no charge. The work was determined to have a fair market value of \$2,742.00. Appellant was found to be liable for the value of the extra work performed by Appellee's other subcontractor in the amount of \$2,742.00. See Record 1041. Copies of the Amended Judgment and Findings of Fact & Conclusions of Law are included in the addendum.

The record is clear however that Appellee never gave Appellant the requisite three (3) days written notice before correcting an alleged problem itself or hiring another subcontractor to do so, as required by the express language of the subcontract. See Record 829 & 970-1. The record is absolutely devoid of any representation that the required written notice was ever given in regard to any alleged breach of the aforementioned subcontract.

The lower court erroneously found that Appellant was liable for the fair market value of the extra work performed by Appellee's other subcontractor in the amount of \$2,742.00. Further, Appellant was found to be liable to Appellee for its hiring of a third party to level an air conditioning system at a cost of \$55.00. See Record 1041-3.

Appellee should not have received the above awards when it has not complied with the very terms of the contract it is seeking to enforce.

**II. APPELLANT WAS ENTITLED TO AN OFFSET FOR WORK PERFORMED**

The record is replete with evidence that Appellant did do some work pursuant to the subcontract. Granted there was certainly a dispute as to how much he did or whether he completed his entire contractual obligations, but it is undisputed that he in fact did some of the work.

Unfortunately Appellant was never compensated for \$1,354.24 from the original contract price. He was never compensated for a change order amount for additional H.V.A.C. work in the amount of \$783.88, for which Appellee did receive from the owner. And he was never compensated for \$920.00 which was deducted and instead paid to somebody else. See Record 858-9.

Indeed, Appellant put on evidence that work was actually performed for which no compensation was received. And it is patently unfair and against the clear weight of the evidence for the lower court to have denied any offset whatsoever when it is undisputed that if there was a breach on Appellant's part, the subcontract required that he be given written notice of said breach.

**III. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN AWARDING APPELLEE ITS ATTORNEY FEES**

No evidence was presented in the trial below in regard to attorney fees. See Record 952. The court specifically stated that

it was going to let the parties' submit affidavits. However, there was some ambiguity in its direction. The court actually said as follows:

THE COURT: Counsel, what I'll do is this, unless-- unless either of you object, the prevailing party may or may not be entitled to an attorney's fee. I'm going to let you submit--

MR. SMITH: Affidavits?

THE COURT: --affidavits. (See Record 952.)

It appears clear that no testimony or evidence was received regarding attorney fees, or at least the reasonableness of such attorney fees. What was contemplated by the court was the submission of affidavits subject to objections.

Appellee's counsel did in fact submit an affidavit with his proposed findings and judgment. See Record 342-6. That affidavit, or at least Appellee's claim for attorney fees was objected to by Appellant. See Record 351-4. There was some confusion however because Appellee's counsel submitted differing sets of documents to counsel and the court. See Appellee's Motion For Relief Under Rule 60(b), a copy of which is included in the addendum. See Record 379-82. Appellant has grave concerns about the purported reasonableness of Appellee's attorney fees submitted and there needs to be a hearing to address that claim.

#### CONCLUSION

It was error for the lower court to have awarded Appellee judgment for having to hire another subcontractor, other than Appellant, when it has failed to comply with the very terms of the