1995

# M&E Construction v. Took Mechanical : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

### STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure confers jurisdiction upon the Utah Court of Appeals to hear appeals from final decisions of Circuit Courts.

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The issues raised by Appellant for evaluation and determination by the appellate court are three:

1. Did the lower court err by allowing judgment for Appellee in the absence of any written three-day notice of Appellant's alleged breach of the applicable subcontract agreement?

Standard of Review: The appellate court will uphold the trial court's findings of fact if they are supported by "substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court" Utah Ass'n of Counties v. Tax Commission, (Utah, 1995) 260 Utah Adv. Rep. 27, 28. Substantial evidence is defined as "that quantum and quality of evidence that is adequate to convince a reasonable mind to support a conclusion. Id., at 28. It is not the appellate court's prerogative to reweigh the evidence since it is the trial court's duty to draw inferences and resolve factual conflicts. Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review (Utah App., 1993), 776 P.2d 63, 68. It is the obligation of the Appellant to marshal all of the evidence supporting

the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, the court's findings are not supported by substantial evidence. First National Bank v. County Bd. of Equalization, (Utah, 1990), 799 P.2nd 1163, 1165. In this case the Appellant must demonstrate that the court erred by finding for the Appellee under the hold harmless provisions of the contract, as opposed to requiring it to apply the three-day notice provisions.

2. Did the lower court err by finding that the Appellant was not entitled to an offset for work performed per the applicable subcontract agreement under the theory of "unjust enrichment"?

Standard of Review: The same standards of review as set forth in paragraph one above to this particular paragraph. The Appellant must demonstrate, by marshalling all of the evidence, that the court erred by finding the Appellant was not entitled to recover under the theory of unjust enrichment.

3. Did the lower court err by awarding the Appellee its attorney fees where the issue of attorney fees was resolved by the court's ordering the parties to submit to the court affidavits in connection with fees; furthermore, the Appellant is concerned about the "reasonableness" of

said fees in this case.

Standard of Review: Whether attorney fees are recoverable in an action is a question of law, which is reviewed for correctness. Robertson v. Gem Ins. Co. 828 P.2nd 496 (Utah App. 1992). Similarly, whether the trial court's findings of fact in support of an award of attorney fees are sufficient is also a question of law, reviewed for correctness. See State v. Pharris, 846 P.2nd 454, 459, (Utah App.) cert. denied, 857 P.2nd 948 (Utah, 1993) (citing State v. Ramirez, 817 P.2nd 774, 782 (Utah, 1991) However, the trial court has broad discretion in determining what constitutes a reasonable attorney's fee, and the appellate court should determine what is reasonable against an "abuse of discretion" standard. Dixie State Bank v. Bracken, 764 P.2nd 985, 991 (Utah, 1988); Regional Sales Agency v. Reichert, 784 P.2nd 1210, 1215 (Utah App., 1989), vacated on other grounds, 830 P.2nd 252 (Utah, 1992).

#### CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ETC.

Section 58-55-501, UCA:

Unlawful conduct includes:

....  
(12) exceeding one's monetary limit as a  
licensed contractor, as the limit is defined by  
statute or rule;....

Section 58-55-503(1):

(1) Any person who violates Subsections  
58-55-501(1) through (14)...is guilty of a class  
A misdemeanor. Any person who violates the  
provisions of Subsections 58-55-501(8) or (13)  
may not be awarded and may not accept a contract  
for the performance of the work. Any licensee  
who submits a notice of intent to request an  
increase in the monetary limit under Subsection  
58-55--309(5), but who is not granted an  
increase sufficient to cover the award of a  
contract upon which he has bid may not be  
awarded and may not accept the contract.

Section 58-55-604, UCA:

No contractor may act as agent or  
commence or maintain any action in any court of  
the state for collection fo compensation for  
performing any act for which a license is  
required by this chapter without alleging and  
proving that he was a properly licensed  
contractor when the contract sued upon was  
entered into, and when the cause of action  
arose. (Emphasis mine.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. NATURE OF THE CASE:

Took Mechanical, the subcontractor in this case,  
claimed to have monies due from M&E Construction, the  
general contractor as a result of a written subcontract  
agreement between the parties, where the subcontractor

performed heating and air conditioning work on the remodel of certain offices at the United States Attorney's Offices on the fourth floor of the Frank E. Moss United State Courthouse in downtown Salt Lake City, Utah.

The general contractor claims the subcontractor (a) failed to complete its work, and (b) that some of the work performed by Took was not in accordance with the plans and specifications, as as a result the Plaintiff was required to perform additional work for the US Government at no cost to the Government, but having a value to M&E of \$2,742.00, for which it was never reimbursed by Took Mechanical. (Record, 002)

The general contractor further alleges that Took Mechanical failed to perform some work at the Milton Bennion Hall jobsite, for which the general contractor was held liable by the University of Utah, having a value of \$363.66, and for which the general contractor was not reimbursed by the subcontractor.

The general contractor claims the two subcontract agreements were tied together by the language of the subcontract agreements so that the breach of one subcontract constituted a breach of the other. (Record, 260, 261)

The subcontractor claims that because it did some

work on the jobsite, though the amount of the work may be in dispute, the subcontractor nevertheless is entitled to recover the reasonable value of the work performed by it. (Record, 013) The trial court found that the subcontractor was not entitled to any value for the work performed. The issue is whether there is sufficient evidence and case law for the court to have refused to give the Appellants any value for the work they performed.

Both parties agreed that should the subcontract agreement be found to be binding upon the parties, and the court so found, that the prevailing party would be entitled to a reasonable attorney's fee and court costs as damages. (Record, 002, 008) Since the trial court found for the Appellant, the question is whether, taking testimony following the close of the case by both parties via affidavit, is sufficient for the court to make a finding of reasonableness of fees.

## 2. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS:

M&E Construction filed a complaint seeking damages against the Defendant for faulty workmanship, failure to complete the work, failure to perform work pursuant to plans and specifications, and other relief in the Third Circuit Court for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, Salt Lake

Department, Civil No. 930001171, CV, assigned to Judge Robin Reese on February 1, 1993.

Took Mechanical following service, filed an Answer and Counterclaim on July 30, 1993. In the Counterclaim the Defendant alleged damages for breach of contract, quantum meruit and promissory estoppel against the Plaintiff.

The case eventually came on for non-jury trial on March 10, 1995. Because of the length of the trial, several separate settings were subsequently scheduled in which to take evidence, and the trial finally concluded on Monday, June 19, 1995, at which time the trial court asked for affidavits from counsel concerning attorney fees, and took the matter under advisement.

### 3. DISPOSITION OF THE TRIAL COURT:

The trial court ruled in favor of the Appellee and against the Appellant finding that the Appellant was liable to the Appellee for the sum of \$363.66 in damages incurred by the Appellee on the Milton Bennion Hall remodel project under the hold harmless provisions of the written subcontract agreement between the parties, and further held that the Appellant was liable to the Appellee in the sum of \$2,742.00 plus additional damages under the hold harmless provisions of the written subcontract agreement Frank E.

Moss Courthouse remodel job. Attorney fees of \$6,810.00 were also awarded after a finding by the court that the fees were reasonable taking into consideration the time and complexity of the case.

The Appellant appealed the entire decision of the trial court, claiming the Appellee was not entitled to any damages for repairs since it had failed to provide a three-day written notice to the Appellant to correct the deficiencies, and further claiming that the Appellant was entitled to the benefit it had provided the Appellee under the doctrine of "unjust enrichment". Additionally, the Appellant claimed by way of its appeal, that the trial court took no testimony at trial and made no finding in the findings of fact or conclusions of law as to the reasonableness of Appellee's attorney fees, and that such fees were highly suspect.

4. STATEMENT OF FACTS RELEVANT  
TO ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW:

A. The Plaintiff, M&E Construction, as the primary contractor on a remodeling contract for two projects, one at Milton Bennion Hall of the University of Utah, and the other at the Frank E. Moss United States Courthouse, United States Attorney's Offices, both in Salt Lake City, Utah, hired the Defendant, as subcontractor to

perform certain heating and air conditioning work.

B. The Plaintiff provided the Defendant with a written subcontract agreement on both projects, which the Defendant eventually signed and purportedly returned to the Plaintiff. (Record, 356)

C. It was clear that both parties intended to be bound by the written subcontract agreement. (Record, 356)

D. The Defendant proceeded to perform certain work under the subcontract agreement at Milton Bennion Hall, and later on proceeded to perform some work at the United States Courthouse under the subcontract agreement.

E. A dispute arose as to the quantity and quality of the work performed under both subcontract agreements.

F. Both subcontract agreements are tied to one another under the wording of the contracts.

G. While the terms of the subcontract agreements provided that a three-day notice be given by the general contractor in the event of a default by the subcontractor to repair any defect noticed before the general contractor proceeded to complete the work by

another, (Record, 357) the court also found that the subcontract agreement provided that the subcontractor was to hold the general contractor harmless for any damages caused by the subcontractor, for which the general contractor might otherwise become liable. (Record, 357)

H. The court further found that in the event the subcontractor failed to correct the defects for which he was to hold the general contractor harmless, he was to pay the general contractor the reasonable value of making the corrections in damages pursuant to Section VIII of the subcontract agreement. (Record, 358)

I. The court found that the Appellant, in the process of doing its work at the Milton Bennion Hall, damaged a wall while installing pneumatic tubing, and failed to properly repair the wall, causing damages for which the Appellee was required to reimburse the University of Utah in the sum of \$198.66.

J. The court further found that Appellant, in the process of installing a fan and grill, cut a hole in the roof of the Milton Bennion Hall, and failed to properly secure it from the weather. A storm appeared imminent, and Appellant refused to make necessary precautions when informed, causing the Plaintiff to be responsible to the

University of Utah for taking precautions, all to the Appellee's damage in the sum of \$165.00. (Record, 359)

K. With respect to the work performed by the Appellant at the Frank E. Moss Courthouse, the court specifically found that the Appellant failed to complete the work it had contracted to do. (Record, 360)

L. The court found that the Appellee could have given a three day notice to the Appellant during the last three weeks of the project to complete its work in a timely fashion, but failed to do so, and hence the Appellee was not entitled to its costs for work which it had hired out to complete Appellee's work. Therefore, Appellee was not entitled to reimbursement from Appellant for the value of that work. (Record, 361,362)

M. On the other hand, the court found that the Appellee was required to perform extra work at no charge, but having a reasonable value of \$2,742.00. This work was occasioned by the fact that the Appellant failed to install certain duct work in accordance with plans and specifications, and failed to do so. (Record, 360) Appellee was entitled to reimbursement from Appellant under Article VIII of the subcontract, the hold harmless provisions.

N. The subcontract agreement provides for payment of attorney fees to the non-defaulting party in any action brought to enforce the contract.

O. The court found the Appellant to be the prevailing party, and thus entitled to attorney fees and court costs. (Record , 363, 364)

P. On Objection by the Appellant, the Appellant argued that the court never addressed the "reasonableness of said fees" (Record, 381) Upon ruling on that Motion, the court however, found that though the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law did not include a finding as to the reasonableness of the attorney fees, the Defendant (Appellant) filed no objection to Appellee's affidavit in support of attorney fees, which provided for a statement of reasonableness, and the court specifically found that the fee request was reasonable given "the length of the trial and its complexity." (Record, 422)

Q. The Appellee was awarded attorney fees, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the subcontract agreement, and the trial judge found the fee both reasonable and appropriate under the circumstances of this case. He requested that the parties supply their request for attorney fees by affidavit, which was done, following the close of

testimony by both sides.

R. The Appellant's Counterclaim for the reasonable value of work performed at the Frank G. Moss Federal Courthouse was denied by the trial Court. (Record, 363)

#### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

Sections VIII and IX of both subcontract agreements provided that the general contractor was to be held harmless from any damages caused by the subcontractor in the performance of the subcontractor's work, for which the general contractor may thereafter become liable. (Exhibits 8 and 10) Under both contracts, the court ruled that despite the three-day remedy provision, the subcontractor was liable to the general contractor under the hold harmless provisions, because the general contractor was held liable for performance or lack of performance on the part of the subcontractor for which the general contractor was held ultimately liable.

There was ample evidence that the subcontractor failed to secure sufficient bonding capacity from the State of Utah to perform the work in question here; and pursuant to Section 58-55-503, UCA, and case law, the trial court

could properly find the Appellant was thus not entitled to receive any monies as an offset for work performed by it.

There were provisions in the subcontract agreement which awarded attorney fees as damages to the prevailing party to any litigation, and clearly in this case the Appellee was the prevailing party. Appellants also requested attorney fees in their counterclaim, but of course were awarded none. At the conclusion of trial, the court suggested that the parties present their claim for attorney fees via affidavit and this was done. While the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law did not make a specific finding as to the reasonableness of Appellee's attorney fees and costs, the court made a subsequent finding as to their reasonableness, following a hearing on Appellant's objections to attorney fees. The court has wide discretion in making an award of attorney fees, and its discretion was not abused in this case.

#### DETAIL OF ARGUMENTS

- I. THE APPLICABLE SUBCONTRACT HOLDS THAT THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR MAY RECOVER DAMAGES FROM THE SUBCONTRACTOR, WHETHER OR NOT HE GIVES A THREE DAY NOTICE, WHERE THE GENERAL CONTRACTOR IS HELD LIABLE FOR DAMAGES CAUSED BY THE SUBCONTRACTOR ALL

PURSUANT TO THE HOLD HARMLESS PROVISIONS  
OF ARTICLE VIII OF THE SUBCONTRACT  
AGREEMENT

Article III of the Subcontract agreement provides in  
part:

"Time is of the essence, and Subcontractor recognizes and acknowledges that the Contractor and the Owner will sustain monetary damages if the whole or any part of the job be delayed through the failure of the Subcontractor to perform the work required in accordance with the Principal Contract, Plans and Specifications. In case of such failure by the Subcontractor, the Contractor may, at his option, upon three (3) days written notice to the Subcontractor, take any steps the Contractor deems advisable to see that such job is promptly completed...and the Subcontractor...shall be liable to the Contractor for any liquidated or other damages assessed against the Contractor because of such failure of the Subcontractor and for any costs incurred by the Contractor in the settlement of claims against the Subcontractor or Contractor, including a reasonable attorney's fee."

Appellant argues that Appellee never provided the Appellant with a three-day written notice to repair defects or perform work, and hence, the Appellee is not entitled to any damages for work performed by the Appellee which Appellant should have performed.

While it is true that the trial court found that Appellee did not give a three day written notice to the Appellant to perform any work, and thus was not entitled to

the value of work performed by Appellee for the benefit of the Appellant during the final three weeks of the United States Courthouse remodel (FFC, paragraph 27, Record, 362), the trial court did find that the Appellant was liable to the Appellee under Article VIII of the Subcontract Agreement for the value of work which Appellant was required to provide to the US Government for free, but which had a fair market value of \$2,742.00, when Appellant failed to follow the plans and specifications, and did not remove and replace 7" duct work and diffusers with 8" duct work and diffusers. (FFC, paragraphs 20, 21, 22, 23, 24, Record at 360, 361)

Article VIII, of the Subcontract Agreement provides in part:

"The Subcontractor will remedy immediately upon demand by the Contractor, any defects in the Subcontractor's work. The Subcontractor will be obligated upon demand by the Contractor to remedy any defects in his work or pay any damage to other work resulting from said defects appearing within one (1) year from date of final acceptance of the Principal Contract."

Article IX of the Subcontract Agreement provides in part:

"The Subcontractor shall indemnify and save harmless and defend the Contractor and the Owner ...from all claims, suits, actions of every name, kind and description, brought for or on account ..caused or claimed to be caused by any

act, omission, fault or negligence which the Subcontractor, his employees or agents are legally liable for arising out of the performance of the Subcontract."

...  
"The Subcontractor agrees to hold the Owner, Contractor and other Subcontractors on the above project harmless from any and all accidents, damages, liens, suits, judgments and any and all other matters of action resulting from the Subcontractor's breach of the said Subcontract and from the Subcontractor's negligence or failure fully to perform said subcontract work."

Given this wording in the Subcontract Agreement, the Court found the Appellant had breached its provisions, and Appellee was thus entitled to the damages which Appellee was required to pay or give to both the University of Utah and to the United States. (FFC, Paragraph 15, 359, and Paragraph 24, 361)

## II. APPELLANT WAS NOT ENTITLED TO AN OFFSET FOR WORK HE PERFORMED

The Appellant acknowledged that it had exceeded its bid limits (\$60,000.00), during the period of time it was working on Appellee's jobsite. (Transcript, page 271, lines 21-25)

During the course of its work at the Frank E. Moss Federal Building jobsite, the Appellant took on an additional \$34,000.00 of work at an elementary school in Midvale (Transcript 309, lines 20-25), and Brighton High School. (Transcript 312, lines 8-24) Together the Appellant admitted

they exceeded his \$60,000.00 bid limit in August, 1992. (Transcript 315, lines 2-4) Given this set of circumstances, the Court could easily have determined the Appellant was prevented from making a claim for any offset pursuant to the provision of Section 58-55-503, UCA. See also, George v. Oren Ltd. & Associates, 672 P.2nd 732 (Utah, 1983)

There is additionally adequate case law to support the trial court's finding that the Appellant was not entitled to recover under the theory of "quantum meruit". In Highland Construction Company vs. Union Pacific Railroad Company, 683 Pwnd. 1042 (Utah, 1984) the trial court refused to permit the subcontractor to collect under the theory of quantum meruit where subcontractor failed to show the time and hours spent, failed to show the actual benefit to the Plaintiff, failed to show its costs were reasonable, and failed to show it was not responsible for added expenses to the Plaintiff. (Id. at 1047)

In the instant case there was no showing as to the value of the actual work performed by the Appellee. No man-hours or time sheets were produced, no records of costs of materials were produced, and no showing was made by the Appellant that it was not responsible for and added expenses

to the Appellee as a result of its breach of contract. Under the Highland case, the trial court would thus be justified in refusing to award the Appellant any damages for unjust enrichment.

### III. ATTORNEY FEES WERE PROPERLY AWARDED

Article IV of the Subcontract Agreement provides in part: "Subcontractor shall pay a reasonable attorney's fee, together with any costs incurred by the Contractor in the event of default in or (sic.) breach of any of the terms or provisions of this agreement."

It is clear that the Court found for the Appellee and against the Appellee in the instant action. (See Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment, Record at pages 355-368)

Because the Subcontract Agreement was found binding on both parties, and has a provision for payment of attorney fees to the Contractor in the event of a default by the Subcontractor, the court properly awarded the Appellee its attorney fees and costs.

At the conclusion of Plaintiff's case, Plaintiff was prepared to submit testimony with respect to attorney fees; however, the court determined, probably because of the

length of trial in this case, to have the Plaintiff submit its application for attorney fees, and any evidence with respect to its attorney fees by affidavit. (Transcript, page 952, lines 12-22)

While the Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law failed to make any specific finding with respect to the "reasonableness" of the attorney fees sought by the Appellee, when the Appellant objected to the award of Appellee's fees (Record, paragraph 9, page 381), it gave the trial court an opportunity to reexamine the issue of the reasonableness of attorney fees. The court subsequently determined in writing that Appellant's fees were reasonable "given the length of the trial and its complexity". (Record, paragraph 4, page 422) An Amended judgment was filed finding the fee of \$6,810.00. was reasonable and awarded to the Plaintiff. (Record, paragraph 5, at page 1033)

#### CONCLUSION

The Appellant misapprehends the findings of the court, when it argues that the court erred by failing to require the Appellee to give three day's notice before commencing and charging work to the Appellant which Appellant allegedly failed to complete. In the case at bar, and under

both projects, the trial court ruled that the Plaintiff was held liable both by the University of Utah and by the United States Government for work which was either improperly performed or which was not performed at all by the Appellant, and for which the Appellee ultimately became liable. The theory of recovery, under Article VIII of the Subcontract Agreement was on the hold harmless provisions. In fact, the court specifically denied a portion of the Appellee's damages sought under the three-day notice provision.


There is adequate case law and statutory law for the trial court to have denied any recovery of damages under the theory of "quantum meruit" for work which the Appellant did perform.

As to attorney fees, both sides agreed that the prevailing party would likely be entitled to an award of attorney fees if the court found the subcontract agreement controlled, and if either party were the prevailing party. The only apparent issue here is whether the court had sufficient basis to make an award of attorney fees, by finding the fees were both reasonable and necessary to the prosecution of the case. Apparently the court had opportunity to review the affidavit presented by Appellant's

Counsel and did in fact make a finding the fees were generally reasonable and necessary given the length and complexity of the case. This ruling should not be disturbed by the appellant court unless it finds the trial court abused its discretion in making such a determination.

The Appellee requests that the Utah Court of Appeals reject each of the arguments set forth by the Appellant, and affirm the findings and judgment of the trial court.